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Abstract: Around one-third of Methodist Central Halls were located in Greater London. They catered for religious worship as well as providing community spaces in a programme of activities that drew on both sacred and secular references. But they are entirely neglected in the academic literature. Archway Central Hall is one of the few remaining examples of the Methodist Central Halls built throughout the capital in the early twentieth century that also remains in use as a place of worship. Drawing upon approaches to the study of buildings that emphasise the fluid networks that comprise them as well as recent scholarship into geographies of religion, this article presents a detailed case study of its genesis and evolution. In doing so, the study contributes to this scholarship by setting the building within its wider context and considers how the structure and its users have adapted to changing social, cultural and environmental circumstances. 
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If a Londoner was asked to bring a Methodist Central Hall to mind, there is a strong chance that the image would be Westminster Central Hall. Prominently located across from Westminster Abbey and close to the Houses of Parliament, the grand baroque headquarters of the Methodist Church in Great Britain is in daily use, not only for worship but for political meetings, conference events and theatre shows. It has an illustrious history: amongst other events, the founding sessions of the United Nations General Assembly took place in its Great Hall in 1946.
 Fewer people will be aware that when it formally opened in 1912, it was part of a wider construction programme that saw Central Halls being built in towns and cities across Britain between 1886 and 1945. They are a distinct building type: intentionally secular in outward appearance and with high standards of interior comfort they were designed to compete with the appeal of pubs and music halls.
 The client stipulated a need for a large main hall to seat at least one thousand worshippers who could all see and hear the preacher. An added requirement was that the buildings needed to generate an income that could maintain the fabric and the social activities therein; so many of them exploited prominent locations to devote the ground floor frontage for shop units or else rented out main halls that were equipped with cinema screens. Social activities evolved with the buildings and so it is possible to discern a particular Central Hall missionary disposition in which secular and sacred activities combined in a programme of worship, temperance activities, social service and entertainment.

Figure 1 about here

Around one-third of the Central Halls were located in Greater London. Through a detailed case study of one of those buildings, Archway Central Hall (now Archway Methodist Church), this article accounts for how it has adapted over time (Figure 1). It is an instructive lens through which to approach the history of religion and, indeed, social change. Moreover, by focussing on the provision of both secular and sacred space – used for community purposes as well as religious worship – this study will inform contemporary debates. Firstly, Christian places of worship play an important part in the nation’s collective memory yet many are now deemed ‘redundant’ because they do not have large worshipping congregations and they go on to find new uses or else small congregations share the spaces.
 Such contemporary ideas around the multiple uses of church buildings are not so new: early Christian temples were used not only for religious purposes but also places where people met to undertake business or market place transactions.
 This means that the tight boundaries around the sacred and the secular, as described by Mircea Eliade for example, are more permeable than often portrayed.
 In their study of sacred spaces in America, Chidester and Linenthal note that ‘sacred space is inevitably tangled with the entrepreneurial, the social, the political and other ‘profane’ forces.’
 As the account of Archway will show, the Methodists liberally borrowed from, and responded to, concomitant secular and commercial developments. They can, therefore, be considered as a precursor to later hybrid developments of community spaces in sacred places in the hybridity of Roman Catholic churches built after the Second Vatican Council.

Secondly, the study of religion as a category in human geography is growing.
 Studies have focussed on alternative sites of religious practice, for example, the home, or on structures that may be unfamiliar in a particular landscape, such as mosques, mandirs and gurdwaras in suburban Britain.
 There have been attempts to study non-traditional sites by taking account of the performative aspects of religion and the emotions it evokes just as much as they take note of the built form.
 Other research has analysed the role that faith-based organisations play as a third sector who deliver of welfare services and how this leads to a “rapprochement” between secular and sacred, particularly in urban areas.
 
There is some worth in returning to Christian places of worship. Recent scholarship in both architectural theory and human geography is moving away from a tendency to treat buildings as static objects whose ‘meaning’ is fixed in stone and that can be read as text.
 Instead, a building can be regarded as an assemblage of human and non-human agents that interact to stabilise or transform a structure: a building is an ‘event’ not an unchanging backdrop to fluid social processes. As Tim Edensor notes in his meticulous dissection of St Anne’s Church in Manchester:
Over their lives, buildings are used for different purposes, aesthetically appraised according to contemporary tastes, demolished, renovated, amended, and spatially recontextualised by the erection of adjacent structures and planning redesignations. They are cannibalised, extended and reduced, their textures change as they decay and disintegrate, and their meanings transform as understandings about their purpose, design and symbolic qualities are superseded.
 

Beyond Edensor’s work, biographical approaches to streets and buildings have proved to be an illuminating route into ideas of memory and place. Gillian Tindall brings to light 400 years of London’s history and ‘lost’ people by using a house located at 49 Bankside as the focal point.
 On Brick Lane by Rachel Lichtenstein creatively makes use of literature, poetry, walks and shared memories to unravel the meanings of one of London’s most recognisable streets and many of its variegated sacred spaces.
 Finally Nicola Thomas makes use of conventional life biographies to probe how the life and identity of the Vicereine of India (1898–1905), Mary Curzon, was shaped within and through dynamic sets of social networks.
 If a building can be considered as an assemblage, then its identity is similarly shaped by ever-shifting and reconfiguring connections.  
Methodist Churches are particularly interesting structures to consider: the building is not regarded as an end-in-itself, but are only sacred when a community of believers comes together within a given structure.
 Methodism is also a ‘worldly’ religion with a commitment to social justice and action to reduce poverty even amongst those not in its constituency; a tradition that directly stems from the denomination’s founder, John Wesley.
 The research for this paper was part of a project that sought to bring the Methodist Central Halls as a distinctive building type to light. It used a combination of documentary archival sources ranging from unsorted material at Archway Methodist Church as well as official repositories, architectural plans and drawings, site visits, and interviews with former and current users of the buildings.
  The archival data collection was inspired by an earlier study of Methodist cultures in Cornwall that made use of collections often labelled as ‘ephemera’: pulpit notices (which give an indication of activities), magazines, advertisements and commemorative booklets.

The London Methodist Missions

Providing a sufficient number of places of worship in London was problematic for most religious organisations at the turn of the century as they tried to keep pace with population movement; the Wesleyan Methodists did not differ.
 The first Central Halls were established in large cities such as Manchester (1886) Liverpool (1905), and Sheffield (1908).
  Bermondsey (1898) was the first in London and remains in operation today although in a much modified building. On Commercial Road in Stepney (1905), the façade of the former headquarters of a large East End Mission can still be seen. A few operated from grand, statement-like buildings: the Leysian Mission (1905), is resplendent on City Road, and is now converted to apartments.
 Meanwhile, on Kingsway, Hugh Price Hughes and Katherine Price Hughes operated a formidable social work enterprise from the heart of the West End with a medical dispensary, hospice and a working mothers’ crèche.
 

The London Methodist Mission spent almost £2 million on chapel extension between 1919 and 1939.
 In total, over 30 Central Halls were built throughout the capital, the earlier ones (pre-1919) predominantly to the south and east.
 Afterwards, the Wesleyans continued to try to keep up with population movement outwards and so Central Halls tended to be established in the growing London suburbs (Figure 2), following the same pattern observed by Rex Walford in his study of the Church of England in Middlesex as essentially a suburban activity.

Insert Figure 2 about here

Much of the building activity was supplemented with contributions from philanthropists and social reformers who were frequently connected through their religion.
 David Jeremy characterises the social composition of Wesleyan business leaders at the turn of the twentieth century as a narrow and upwardly mobile select group of men establishing themselves in civic and political life.
 Although a number of them helped the Central Hall cause, Joseph Rank, the flour miller, and his son, J. Arthur Rank, that are indelibly linked to them. Joseph Rank lived a frugal life and gave most of his money to charitable causes.
 He became involved in the Central Halls because of his concern for the spiritual welfare of his workers in Hull.
 Rank’s gifts were anonymous and he preferred to stimulate local giving by offering to match it pound for pound. Following in his father’s tradition, J. Arthur Rank became interested in showing religious films as a means of spreading the word of God through observing the experiments of Methodist ministers, such as Thomas Tiplady, who was based at the Lambeth Methodist Mission.
 After pursuing a number of causes, he eventually pooled his movie interests into the Rank Organisation in 1937 and acquired the Odeon Cinema chain in 1938.
 
Archway Central Hall: Genesis

Archway Central Hall was inaugurated after three denominations – the Wesleyans, the Primitives and the United Methodists – joined together to form one church. Located at a junction where five roads meet (Figure 3), the Hall replaced a former Wesleyan chapel. It was a choice site, within a commercial area and close to a Tube station
, indicating that the original progenitors understood the strategic importance of junctions for maximum advertising opportunities.
Insert Figure 3 about here

By 1930, deterioration of the original chapel and problems with traffic noise resulted in the trustees of Archway Road Chapel deciding that Archway should have a new Central Hall to in order to reach out to what had now become  a mainly working class area.
 By this time, the London Methodist Mission began to target money towards building in the London County Council (LCC) cottage estates at Dagenham and Becontree as well as catering for those who moved north and westwards to Hillingdon, Yiewsley and Enfield.
 A Central Hall at Archway was, therefore, the solution to the continuing problem that population movement posed to the Methodist Church. 

Architect & Design

Methodist Church bodies relied on trusted architects who were well acquainted with their religious and social aims.
 When the trustees of Archway established a limited architectural competition, the firm of George E. and K. G. Withers of London awarded the commission.  George Withers, born in 1873 in Clapham, practised with Charles Bell, the designer of the South West London Hall in Bermondsey (1898), and collaborated with Bell and Percy Meredith on Plumstead Central Hall (1903). After setting out on his own he designed a range of commercial buildings including factories, hotels and a small number of chapels for the Wesleyans.
 The RIBA Library has no information on the firm and the Builder merely records that ‘the death has taken place of Mr George E. Withers, F.R.I.B.A, C.C. at the age of 71’.
 Withers’ is one of many commercial architects who shaped Britain’s urban landscape yet whose contribution remains overlooked.

Reverend Charles Hulbert was appointed to oversee the building of the Hall and to establish a mission. His biographer alleges that he demanded that the trustees provided a Central Hall, detached from the normal responsibilities that a Methodist Church owes to its wider network of nearby compatriots (known as a circuit, in this case, the Highgate Circuit), so that he had the authority to  direct activities adding social work to a range of associational activities.
 Hulbert gathered statistics from the Health and Education authorities on neglected children and poor housing conditions to prove his belief that the combination of religion and social service could have an effect on the area.
  

Churches were not immune to the restrictions imposed through developing building codes and town planning. The first planning application was refused, despite consulting with Islington Borough Council (IBC), because the LCC anticipated future road widening and required the building line to be set back by fourteen feet on Archway Road and six feet on St Johns Way.
 Once duly attended to, planning approval was granted in November 1932, and Archway Central Hall opened in April 1934. It has been noted that ‘modern’ architecture in Britain can be traced to debates and buildings prior to the national rebuilding programme after 1945.
 Indeed, when Hulbert asked the architect what style the building would be, Withers replied that: ‘there is no particular style of architecture, we have adopted the modern style which is in keeping with present day costs and steel constructed buildings’.
  One can see that it fits into its existing surroundings; by refusing to follow the conventions of formalised styles and conforming to building codes, Withers created a much more flexible space that would serve it well into the future (Figure 4). 

Though much toned down, it is reminiscent of the familiar ‘house style’ for 1930s Odeon cinemas provided by the architects Harry Weedon and Cecil Clavering when Odeon was still owned by Oscar Deutsch.
  Associated with fantasy and playfulness, the Art Deco style’s cream-coloured faience tiling and streamlined curves was popular for commercial buildings and used extensively in suburban London.
   Archway Central Hall’s main entrance tower was, however, distinguished from commerce by a stone cross that could be floodlit during the evening. This symbol of Christian faith dominated the building and jostled with more familiar motifs; its importance was underlined when the tower was truncated in 1956 because of defective construction, the cross had to be removed. Three trustees withheld their approval until assured that this would be remedied and it was replaced with, in a continuing nod to modernity, a resplendent neon equivalent.
 
Insert Figure 4 about here 

Insert Figure 5 about here 
On plan, the building comprised of eight self-contained shops at ground floor level. An irregular shaped octagonal access area was the lynchpin in a complex plan with a large lantern light in the ceiling. From here, a ground floor prayer chapel could be accessed; small and simply furnished with chairs, an altar and a cross. There was also a route to the main hall, although it had a separate entrance off St John’s Way. At first floor was the accommodation for ancillary church activities:  Sunday school, administrative offices, caretakers’ accommodation and a smaller hall seating 500 (Figure 5).

The Sunday school occupied three large rooms divided between primary, intermediate and senior departments. Here, the main religious function was made evident with murals by Henry E. Tidmarsh on the walls including sixteen panels on the theme of discipleship with additional paintings showing, amongst others, John Wesley, George Fox, St Paul and St Augustine.  Subsequent refurbishment painted over them and no visual record remains.
  Tidmarsh was a Wesleyan local preacher and Sunday school teacher and well-known for his depiction of street scenes in London and Manchester.
 An example of his work at a Sunday school in High Barnet indicates ‘a bold and challenging presentation of the Social Gospel’ by a man who held strong Socialist principles.
 
Flexibility in the interior spaces was planned for. The main hall could be considered to be entirely separate so that, if rented out, church work in other rooms was not interfered with. Designed for both worship and entertainment, it boasted a full sized cinema screen that could be winched up and down as required. The modest entrance off St John’s Way included a ticket office and cloakrooms.  While, the horse-shoe shaped balcony was reminiscent of the layout of early Methodist preaching houses, the inclusion of upholstered tip-up seating evoked the theatre or cinema.
  Even the descriptions of the materials alluded to contemporary references. Traffic noise was addressed by insulating the walls with a high density fibrous board marketed as ‘tentest’. This, the Methodist Chapel Committee proudly announced, had been used during the construction of BBC Broadcasting House (1932).
 Even the church organ resembled the world of commercial design. One reporter from The Methodist Recorder documents his surprise, saying that: ‘I have never seen a church in which the console only was visible, as in a modern cinema, and the rest, was hidden behind a screen.’
 Built by William Hill & Son and Norman & Beard it incorporated pipework from the former Archway Road chapel organ and was completely enclosed in a teak chamber.
 Concealing the pipework in a chamber was done to comply with LCC safety regulations regarding cinema organs (Figure 6).
 The Methodists were keen to demonstrate their knowledge of and relevance to secular concerns and this is often brought out through studying their buildings. 
The bright main hall had a high ceiling rising within the skylight to form a rectangular coved recess. Contemporary accounts describe the cream tiling and teak woodwork as having ‘a quiet dignity’.
 English Heritage prefers ‘bland and perfunctory’, making particular reference to ‘a scrolly, vaguely Grecian motif’ along the front of the balcony.
 Most of the corridor walls were tiled. A magazine of the mission pokes fun at its copious use, but also highlights just how much of a departure the building was from pre-conceived ideas about what a ‘church’ should look like, saying that:
During the early days of the Central Hall, before our people had got really used to it, all sorts of amusing ideas existed as to what it really was. It is on record that several people from time to time passed the swing door with their towel around their necks, asking which way to the swimming bath.

Insert Figure 6 about here

Creating a Community

When the Reverend C. Ensor Walters of the London Mission spoke at Archway Central Hall’s opening services, he was keen to emphasise that it was as sacred as Westminster Abbey. Cheers at the end of his speech indicated to the Methodist Times and Leader: ‘that was the best sign in all that happened, for it meant that people were there who were not accustomed to the forms of worship’.
 Joseph Rank presided at the evening meeting of the opening service and reminded the audience of the need for financial prudence. Rank, the treasurer of Tooting Central Hall, advised that: ‘In this Mission you must study economy. It is easy to spend money, and not so easy to get a hold of it. You will need your pennies to keep this Hall going. It is costly to run Mission-Halls.’

Rank had a slightly more vested interest than mere pennies. He donated £10, 000 to the opening building fund but later increased his contribution to £35, 000 to ensure that the Hall opened without debt. There were strings attached to his contribution to the overall cost of £66, 106: shop rents were entirely given over to the London Mission Committee from which Archway would receive an annual £500 grant.
 In the manner of the thrifty and successful businessman he was, Rank ensured not only an income for Archway but for all of London Methodism. 

Though the social work on the scale of missions in the south and east of London was not embarked upon, the services of a sympathetic lawyer were secured every Monday for one hour to provide advice to the poor.
 A number of church members formed the twenty-eighth branch of the ‘League of Good Samaritans’ to exercise Christian charity to the needy, particularly migrants who came to London in search of work with little success.
  Saturday afternoons were given over to a children’s cinema showing a mixture of cartoons and educational films. Saturday evening concerts were targeted at the family and provided a mixture of variety acts and ended with a film (Figure 7). 

Insert Figure 7 about here.

Nevertheless, there were contestations over the materiality of the space. Some attendees began to complain to the minister that on Sundays the Hall did not look different to a Saturday. So, in 1943, the Trustees authorised the purchase of a cross, vases and different coloured curtains to give a more reverential feel to worship.
 The need to make the Central Hall feel more like a church carried on into the 1950s when the lettering on a new canopy was revised to read ‘Archway Central Hall’ at the front and ‘Archway Methodist Church’ at the side.
 Placed in a residential area of London, Archway the pattern of use soon conformed to a typical suburban church. However, its location meant that Archway Central Hall’s versatile plan could be put to a variety of uses, particularly once the days of full capacity congregations began to wane sharply in 1939. 

Upon the outbreak of the Second World War, the basement was requisitioned by Islington Borough Council (IBC) as an air raid shelter in which spirituality remains evident.
 The minister, also the local air warden, taught up to 600 people the words of ‘The Archway Air Raid Shelter Hymn’ and a prayer before lights out (Figure 8). The idea of Hall-as-entertainment also continued with the mission literature observing that: ‘Our air raid shelter is the most popular thing in North London at the moment! Large crowds gather outside every night waiting to come in. It looks like the pit entrance to a popular play, and we actually have a queue of artistes doing turns outside the Hall!’ 

Insert Figure 8 about here
Evolution

Membership gradually declined following the end of the Second World War. The 534 members recorded by the Mission in 1954 fell to 186 by 1974.
 The cine-projectors were sold in 1946, due to the difficulty in securing films, although the screen remained.
  However, Archway was able to capitalise on youth work through the Methodist Association of Youth Clubs (MAYC) developed in contrast to the more formal approach of Sunday schools that was developed by Jimmy Butterworth at Clubland Methodist Church in Walworth during the 1920s. 
  Designed to be casual, membership was open to all regardless of religious denomination.
MAYC reached its prime during the 1950s with some 3, 400 clubs and a membership of 110, 000 and a yearly conference that converged on Westminster Hall drawing teenagers from across England and Wales.
 At Archway, the work used six rooms up to four times a week for creative classes, sports and games. Members of the club were encouraged to adopt leadership roles and there were attempts to connect it to the life of the church. Despite the limits of success here, a core cadre became church members and describe intergenerational mixing. For these, social capital was developed through engaging with like-minded people also uninterested in drinking alcohol and accords with the spatial expression of self-regulating young people’s behaviour to the main tenets of Methodism.
  One former member indicated that most of his weeknights were taken up in activities offered at the Hall: 

 In some senses it was not unlike a Catholic upbringing…you go to a Catholic school, a Catholic Church, a Catholic club…if you’re busy doing that you are not busy doing something else and for me Archway Central Hall provided that sort of all-embracing social experience.

This active congregation was dismantled during the 1960s. The youth club eventually petered out as members moved out of London. Membership in the other clubs declined as members died without attracting new recruits. It is now a timely moment to widen the perspective and consider the building in relation to its urban context. 

Road Networks and London County Council

In their Highway Development Survey (1937), Charles Bressey and Edwin Lutyens identified the congestion at the Archway Road junction as one of eleven singled out for mention.
   Traffic congestion continued to be a growing concern after 1945.
 When the Greater London Council (GLC) eventually superseded the LCC in 1965, their remit included a supposition that the primary road network plans were to be revived.
  Archway Road was widened to a dual carriageway and the intersection at Archway tube station became a gyratory roundabout system with north and south bound access separated by a traffic island (Figure 9). 
Insert Figure 9 about here
Archway Central Hall became stranded on a roundabout. Access via a subway system was stopped in 1998 when the Highways Agency closed it after a record twenty-six robberies in two months.
 From the tube station, pedestrians are obliged to traverse three roads, with traffic signals, rather than take a direct route across Highgate Hill. Today, the manager of a shop unit in the building claims that a frequent comment is: ‘I know you are there but it’s just too far to cross that road.’
 While it may not be the determining factor in declining congregations, the creation of the gyratory undoubtedly affected wider patterns of use.

Coupled with physical redevelopment of the area was a changing population demographic. Figures 10 and 11, taken around thirty years apart, demonstrate this change in the composition of youth groups.  Deakin and Ungerson’s study of migration patterns in London found that young, white, working-class families were the most likely to leave Islington and that the area was becoming multi-racial.
 The construction of housing estates during the 1970s, including the Miranda Park and Elthorne Road estates to the west and north of Archway Central Hall, also contributed to population flows in and out of the borough.  Activities at the Hall continued to evolve alongside such changes. A report to the London Mission in 1974 made reference to the fact that: ‘Archway was still suffering grievously from people moving away and there was still widespread dereliction in the area…Mr Beech [the minister] said he sometimes felt as if he were ministering on Paddington station to people constantly on the move’.
Insert Figures 10 and 11 here

Tensions were high in the late 1960s amongst a disaffected black youth who were drawn to the Black Power Movement.
 A former missionary in Ghana, John Beech, was sent to Archway for his first ministerial post in the United Kingdom He was part of a set of evangelic white ministers who aimed to build up inner city and new town areas through the black community.
  Traditional forms of evangelism through choral musical activities were thought unattractive to those whose cultural references were different, so Beech worked closely with prominent community leaders and began to teach religious education at a local school in 1969.
 Soon afterwards, some boys enquired about the possibility of a different kind of youth club on the premises. This was agreed and up to 18, 000 square foot of space attracted 600 youngsters. Beech and his Deaconess, Sister Evelyn, document that they had to regularly disarm youths of hatchets and knives and deal with the use of drugs.
 While the work was predicated on evangelism, there was little opportunity to do so because the numbers of boys attending the youth club were so large. In recognition of the importance of such work that operated outside the bounds of the Welfare State, the Inner London Education Authority (ILEA) eventually provided resources through the support of fully trained staff, who were to be committed Christians, and grants to modernise the premises.
 

Few people who attended Sunday worship during this period recall this. Religious worship was becoming separated from other activities, partially because its users were diversifying. It was possible to do so because, in such a large building, church activities could be entirely separated from outreach work and the ministerial team were sensitive to the potential disruption that the youth club might have on the weekly programme of religious worship.
 In any case, worshippers had more pressing concerns. Less than ten per cent of the seats in the main hall were filled on Sundays. Reverend John Beech commented that: ‘Many were convinced that being placed on a traffic island in the middle of the A1, together with the deterioration of the premises and the migration of members, would precipitate closure of the Mission’.
 
To remedy this, the main hall gallery was roped off to encourage worshippers closer together. At a cost of £10 per day to heat (approximately £56 today), the main hall was thought to be too expensive and deemed to be detrimental to fostering fellowship.
  The building’s trustees and church leaders considered several options for the site, including demolishing the main hall to erect a new women’s hostel.
 In the end, reconstruction was considered to be too large a task to undertake and the trustees kept the main hall for occasional use and lettings.  

In 1969, to designs by Nye, Saunders and Partners of Guildford, the floor was levelled and the ground floor tip-up seating removed. A fixed wall was added underneath the balcony to create a separate worship centre at the back of the main hall. A more sober assessment of likely congregations is reflected in seating provision for 148 and it was plainly furnished with a communion table, rail and cedar panelling. Important additions included a hymn book cupboard – further material indication that the new worship space signalled a move from secularisation to the trappings associated with a typical Methodist church. An advertising brochure, designed to attract funding, suggested that improvements were necessary because of a general rise in living standards, consequently, the ‘design, furnishing, heating and lighting should not be lower than we desire for our own homes or expect to find in other public buildings’.
 There was an added edge to its plainness. A more generic décor would learn from past design mistakes: the vision of their forbears was thought to date easily and to constrain worship. So, this new rendering was considered to be much more adaptable to allow it to be flexible to the future needs and: ‘to whatever new forms of worship may evolve under the guidance of the Holy Spirit.’
  

Shared Space 

As the congregation retreated into a smaller area, the internal spaces were rented out with greater frequency to outside organisations in order to raise the income. Whatever the fate of the main hall was to be, the consensus amongst church leadership was ‘that every effort should be made to increase its versatility and scope for both church and letting purposes.’
 This aim was realised because of a lack of community facilities on the nearby housing estates and so, in common with other studies, the role of religious organisations in providing spaces in what are too often characterised as exclusively secular can be seen.
  The prayer chapel and intermediates school room were offered to Islington Borough Council (IBC) for their social services department in 1971. The IBC had a long relationship with the trustees since their public library had been located in two of Archway’s shop units between 1946 and 1972.
 Part of this also meant political meetings - whether or not the trustees were aware, an incongruous photograph of a meeting of the ANC Communist Party shows a portrait of Karl Marx – who claimed religion to be the opiate of the people – overlooking the platform (Figure 12).

Figure 12 about here

Churches need cash if they are to be maintained and Archway’s prudent treasurers channelled any extra income towards building up a repairs reserve.
 As a consequence, they were able to fund a major refurbishment in 1983 resulting in the removal of original features such as the ticket office and cream faience tiling; one of the reasons cited by English Heritage for its refusal to list the building in 1989 despite praising the multi-functional planning.

However, the careful accountancy and managing of church activities was a burden falling on an increasingly elderly constituent. Many had, by the 1980s, retired to the suburbs or countryside. The property stewards, who looked after maintenance, were aging and found travelling stressful. By 1987, church leadership voted to switch to the professional quinquennial building surveys favoured by the Church of England. In 1997, the poor state of the Main Hall was revealed to require immediate attention, costing an £260, 000. This exceeded the amount of money in the reserve fund and, on balance, the work involved in maintaining and letting the premises was too much for the human and financial resources available. 
 It was put on the market in 1997 and sold four years later to a firm of property developers for £700, 000, approximately £409 per square metre.

Today

162 members moved to a new worship centre on the site of the small hall on the first floor of the building in 2001. Direct access from the ground floor was lost because the option proved difficult to plan without significant structural changes amounting to £350, 000. A stained glass window was installed at the back of the room having gone on the journey with the congregation from old prayer chapel through two worship centres.  

It remains well-used, primarily by letting to outside organisations. The second floor is entirely rented by the University Bible Fellowship, a Korean evangelical group. Their presence is indicative of an overall increase in South East Asian evangelicals in London. 
 A variety of dance, exercise and play groups meet regularly in the old Sunday school rooms and the hallway is periodically used to stage art and community exhibitions.  

The main hall remains undeveloped but still a site of controversy. In 2001, IBC teamed up with BDP, one of the largest architectural practices in the UK, and proposed the redevelopment of the entire area including the demolition of Archway’s main hall to make way for student housing and a supermarket.   The active local residents association, the Better

Archway Forum, successfully lobbied for plans to be dropped in order to refurbish existing buildings, protect independent traders and promote the cohesion of the local community. During March and April 2005, they consulted eight focus groups. Several of these ‘said they liked the small scale nature of the area’ and three groups in particular singled out ‘The Archway Close and its shops…as very attractive…there was a sense of community and…that the shops were friendly to their customers’.
 However, any plans should be hinged on reconfiguring the gyratory road system – one of the last to remain in existence in the capital - to reconnect pedestrian access to Archway Close.
 Transport for London have a policy of returning to two-way traffic where possible but at Archway, their plan was thought to be ‘over-ambitious and with projected cost regarded as prohibitive’; however, ‘it will happen sometime’.
 

Conclusion

In 2007, before BDP’s proposed scheme was withdrawn, a symposium was held to debate Archway’s future. Speaking at it, Sir Terry Farrell, an architect, drew attention to the disrupting effect that gyratory road schemes still have throughout London, amongst them Archway and Swiss Cottage.  Farrell said that: ‘Archway is what we call a ‘lost town’. This is utterly wrong in many senses because it is still here but it doesn’t look as though it is still here.’

Archway Central Hall brings this ‘lost town’ sharply into view. It was spared from the fate that befell a majority of the Central Halls, which have typically been disposed of or replaced.
 It shows how one building has survived and has, over time, provided welcoming and sociable spaces in spite of the interventions of well-meaning urban plans. Originally the focus for a working class community who were attracted by the associational facilities and the opportunities for self-improvement, population movement and changing cultural tastes prompted alterations in internal design and use. It is difficult to crystallise what such a complex, multi-functional building means since it is comprised of different things at different moments. Whilst its architectural and stylistic qualities are interesting, focussing exclusively on these aspects offers a partial account and one that is fixed in time. Buildings only ever make sense when related to the wider urban fabric and when the people and objects that have moved around and through them are revealed: from changing road patterns to internal reconfigurations. Archway Central Hall will change in the future whilst also serving as an anchor to the past, something that is not achieved by design alone but in the co-evolution of people and materials.
The case study also shows that the establishment of the welfare state did not make church-based philanthropy wholly redundant. Moreover, Archway Central Hall’s accommodation of both sacred and secular activities allowed a mutually dependent relationship to develop with IBC who made use of the premises until they could afford to build their own. More recently, the church has taken advantage of the increasing recognition given to the work of faith-based charitable organisations to forge fruitful partnerships on the premises. As Cloke and Beaumont suggest, it is too crude to conceptualise the history of twentieth century religion as one in which there has been a move from secularity to post-secularity.
 Rather, the “rapprochement” between faith and the state has evolved over time and, in Archway, was contingent on the necessity of providing community spaces as the welfare state was being established.  Thus, secular and sacred spaces are not discrete concepts: they co-exist, sometimes uneasily and often ambiguously.
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